**RECEIVED**

**Nov 25 2025**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals  
Appeal from Florence County  
The Honorable D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No: 2025-001215

---

THE STATE,

Petitioner,

v.

TIRIK JAQUAN JOHNSON-EPPS,

Respondent.

---

**BRIEF OF PETITIONER**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

W. JOSEPH MAYE  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 100851

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, S.C. 29211-1549  
(803) 734-6305

**

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Tirik Jacquan Johnson-Epps (hereinafter “Respondent”) was indicted at the May 6, 2021, term of the Florence County grand jury for murder of Tydrecus Williams (hereinafter “Victim”) (2021-GS-21-00474) and possession of a weapon during a violent crime (2021-GS-21-00475). Respondent and co-defendant, Quinterris Carmichael (hereinafter “Carmichael”), were tried from January 23-27, 2023, before the Honorable D. Craig Brown, and a jury. Respondent was represented by Gregory Ammons. William “Josh” Edgeworth, III, represented co-defendant Carmichael. J. Ryan White was the prosecuting assistant solicitor for the case.

On January 27, 2023, Respondent and Carmichael were both found guilty of murder and possession of a weapon during a violent crime by the jury. (R. p. 401, lines 6-22). Respondent and Carmichael were sentenced to life imprisonment for murder. (R. p. 416, lines 5-12). Respondent challenged his conviction on appeal, and on April 23, 2025, the Court of Appeals reversed and remanded the case for a new trial. *State v. Johnson-Epps*, No. 2023-000179, 2025 WL 1178675 (S.C. Ct. App. Apr. 23, 2025). The Petition for Rehearing was denied on May 22, 2025, and the State then sought a Petition for Writ of Certiorari. Certiorari was granted on October 21, 2025, and this Brief of Petitioner now follows.

## **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

### *The Murder*

At approximately 3:30 AM on September 13, 2019, Respondent, Carmichael, and two black females arrived at the Tiger Mart gas station and convenience store in Florence, South Carolina. Kareem Jones (hereinafter “Jones”) and Victim were together inside the gas station when they were approached by Carmichael with an invitation to smoke with him. When they turned down his invitation Carmichael became angry and verbally threatened them. (R. p. 53, line 15; p. 120, lines 17-18; p. 154, line 23-p. 155, line 3; p. 37, line 22-p. 38, line 14).

Jones and Victim tried to ignore Carmichael's outburst and diffuse the situation, opting to wait for the store clerk to serve them, but their efforts were to no avail. (R. p. 156, lines 2-10). Carmichael then turned the incident violent by striking Jones. (R. p. 156, lines 24-25). Jones did not strike back, fearing that Carmichael had a gun. (R. p. 157, lines 1-6). At this point, Carmichael, Victim, and Jones were standing together. (R. p. 157, line 9). The trio proceeded to walk behind the store, with Respondent following them. (R. p. 157, lines 19-24). From the surveillance footage, the jury was able to hear Jones say "ain't no way you're doing this in front of the camera." (R. p. 158, lines 16-18). Once they were around the corner of the Tiger Mart, Respondent opened fire on Victim and Jones fled from the scene back to Victim's girlfriend's apartment where he and Victim had previously visited. (R. p. 158, lines 22-24; p. 159, lines 12-18).

Dr. Presnell, a forensic pathologist at the Medical University of South Carolina in Charleston, testified that the victim was shot up to 9 times. (R. p. 321, line 16). The lethal shot was a gunshot to the back of the head that went through the brain and exited through the left temple. (R. p. 321, lines 19-20). She also testified that one of the shots that went through the stomach and intestines would also have killed the victim, but he was already dead when this shot went through his body. (R. p. 321, line 20-p. 322, line 1).

#### *Evidence of Respondent's and Carmichael's Guilt*

The State produced a substantial amount of evidence linking Respondent and Carmichael to the shooting at the Tiger Mart. The first piece of evidence was video surveillance from the Tiger Mart on that evening. According to the lead investigator in the case, Officer Justin Chatlosh, police were able to identify Carmichael "almost immediately" from the video surveillance footage. (R.p. 278, lines 2-16). After identifying Carmichael, officers used social media to identify the other three passengers in the car, including Respondent. (R.p. 279, lines 2-9). Warrants were subsequently

issued for the arrest of Respondent and Carmichael. (R. p. 280, line 22-p. 281, line 11). When Respondent was apprehended, he had shaved off the dreadlock hairstyle he wore at the time of the murder. (R. p. 283, lines 21-25).

Witness testimony also identified the Respondent and Carmichael as the perpetrators of the murder. Kareem Jones was with the victim the night of the shooting. When the surveillance video, State's Exhibit 3, was played in court, Jones identified himself, Victim, "Tirik" (Respondent), and "Man-Man" (Carmichael) as the individuals in the footage. (R. p.158, lines 5-12).

Kami Mitchell, an associate of Carmichael's who had "sexual dealings" with him, was with Respondent and Carmichael the night of the murder. (R. p. 51, lines 6-20). She testified that Carmichael was known to use drugs, something Carmichael had stated to Jones and Victim during his altercation with them. (R. p. 52, lines 7-8; *see* p. 37, lines 24-25). Mitchell detailed that Respondent and Carmichael knew Jones and Victim from school. (R. p. 54-55). Mitchell testified that she attempted to corral Carmichael back to the car so they could "go have sex". (R. p. 57, lines 6-7). Carmichael, however, continued to escalate the situation, prompting Respondent and Mitchell to exit Mitchell's car. (R. p. 59, line 24-p. 60, line 8). Mitchell testified that Respondent and Carmichael, both of whom she identified in court, went around the side of the building with Victim, which is where the murder eventually took place. (R. p. 61-66; *see* p. 67, lines 16-25). Tyrin Jones likewise testified that after Carmichael struck Jones and proceeded to walk around the corner with Jones and Victim, Respondent exited the vehicle and followed. (R. p. 125, line 23-p.126, line 17). She also identified Respondent and Carmichael as the perpetrators of the murder. (R. p. 119-129).

Respondent's jeans were tested for DNA evidence. Using a two-scenario outcome—one scenario being the likelihood that the victim's blood was the one identified on the jeans and the

other being that the blood on the jeans came from another, unidentified individual— expert witness Zapata concluded that it was *990 octillion* times more likely that Victim contributed to the blood profile taken from the jeans than another individual. (R. p. 230, line 7-p. 231, line 3).

### *Jury Polling*

After two hours of deliberation, the jury returned to court with a verdict. (R. p. 401, lines 1-2). Respondent was unanimously found guilty of murder and possession of a weapon during a violent crime. Carmichael was found guilty of the same crimes. (R. p. 401, lines 6-22).

Following the reading of the verdict, Judge Brown polled the jury by asking the jury members to each raise their hand if the guilty verdict was and remained each juror's respective verdict. The record demonstrates that all jurors complied and that all twelve jurors raised their hand to individually confirm their verdict. (R. p. 401, line 23-p.402, line 2). Defense counsel then moved for the court to poll the jurors individually. (R. p. 402, lines 5-8). A bench conference was held after Carmichael's and Respondent's respective counsels motioned for verbal polling. (R. p. 402, lines 11-13). It is unclear what occurred during the bench conference. However, after the conference, Judge Brown declined to poll the jury further. (R. p. 402, lines 14-21). Judge Brown stated that the raising of hands by each juror was "sufficient under the circumstances." (R. p. 402, lines 19-20). Further, he stated, "I've given an opportunity for them to respond pursuant to my question, and they've responded, and I think that's appropriate under the circumstances." (R. p. 402, lines 21-23).

The circumstances alluded to by the court are a likely reference to the *numerous* bizarre and alarming occurrences that took place during the trial. During pre-trial motions, and on the record, Mr. White stated that witnesses had been getting phone calls from "no caller ID numbers." (R. p. 36, lines 15-16). Mr. White stated that the people on the other end of those calls would

simply say “do not go,” after which they would hang up. (R. p. 36, lines 17-18). Phones also had to be confiscated from individuals in the gallery. (R. p. 86, line 12-p. 87, line 6).

One juror was dismissed because he was sent a Facebook message about the trial. The message read: “Eric, both [sic] them boys killed Mrs. Betty’s grandson, bug son. Shot him 11 times and one in the head. I had to leave and go to work. Please give them the justice they deserve.” (R. p. 89, lines 7-9). As a result, this juror was dismissed.

Additionally, Mr. White alleged that Carmichael used a jail phone to contact another individual. (R. p. 101: 18-19). He reportedly told another individual not to “worry about looking for Dee’s [a juror who had been excused] girlfriend anymore.” (R. p. 101, lines 20-21). Judge Brown then admonished the conduct of attendees, and potentially one of the defendants, stating:

Well, the Court is vitally concerned and tremendously disturbed about what may be going on here. Therefore, I want to do everything within my power to protect the integrity of this process and ensure to the best of my ability that there is no improper contact by anyone with these jurors, that these defendants receive a fair and impartial trial, and that this jury decide this case based upon the evidence and testimony presented in this courtroom, uninfluenced by anything outside of this courtroom.

(R. p. 102, lines 5-13). Clearly, Judge Brown was concerned throughout the trial with issues of jury tampering and potential interference.

One juror was dismissed after stating she did not feel comfortable serving on the jury. (R. p. 413, line 2). During questioning by Judge Brown, the Judge stated that she appeared to be “shaken to the point that she was crying as she talked to me.” (R. p. 413, lines 2-5). However, she stated that no one had reached out to her and Judge Brown respected that. (R. p. 413, lines 5-6). Nevertheless, she was released from the jury panel and an alternate was seated. This alternate was the one who received the Facebook message, which Judge Brown stated on the record did not come from either defendant based on the content. (R. p. 308, lines 7-9).

Moreover, because of these concerning events, Judge Brown ordered that only immediate family would be allowed in the courtroom. (R. p. 413, lines 18-22; p. 101, lines 5-10). After that order, a “multitude of individuals” who were previously present did not reappear. (R. p. 413, lines 22-25). Judge Brown made the order to ensure that the proceedings were properly insulated from impropriety. (R. p. 414, line 1). The record showed that one individual listed as a sibling of Carmichael was not, in fact, his brother, which was confirmed by law enforcement. (R. p. 414, lines 5-8).

Regarding the phone call from Carmichael, Judge Brown stated that he was unable to make out the entirety of the phone conversation, but he did hear certain parts where Carmichael was discussing the “jury or a juror.” (R. p. 309, lines 9-18). Judge Brown stated that the phone call from Carmichael factored into his order to restrict access to the proceedings.

Additionally, after the case went to the jury, it was brought to the Judge’s attention that four rounds of firearm ammunition were found in the men’s bathroom on the floor of the courthouse where the proceedings were being held. (R. p. 414, lines 19-22). This prompted Judge Brown to order law enforcement to evacuate the building and have all attendees come through “downstairs screening.” (R. p. 414, lines 22-24). The courtroom was thoroughly searched by law enforcement and both the US Marshall’s Office and local Sherriff’s Office brought in a dog to go through the courtroom. (R. p. 415, lines 3-9). Presumably, this is something the jurors would have been inescapably aware of amidst performing their duties. Fortunately, no firearm was found at the courthouse. (R. p. 415, lines 9-10). In light of the many issues of potential impropriety, Judge Brown stated, “I’m putting all of that on the record in an effort to explain my limitations of who was in this courtroom as well as concerns I had throughout the trial.” (R. p. 415, lines 10-13). Judge

Brown would ultimately state after the trial that there were things that happened during the trial that he had never seen in his thirteen years on the bench. (R. p. 412, lines 7-11).

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. *State v. Elwell*, 403 S.C. 606, 609, 743 S.E.2d 802, 804 (2013). Therefore, this Court is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless the appellant can demonstrate that the trial court's conclusions either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law. *Id.*

### **ARGUMENTS**

- I. In the complete absence of evidence that a defendant was denied the right to a unanimous verdict, and where the jury was polled to ensure their verdict was unanimous, there can exist only *procedural* error. Such matters leave room for this Court to find harmless error and permit limited trial court discretion for extraordinary circumstances such as detriments to the jurors' feelings of safety and blunt attempts to interfere with the trial process.**

Structural errors demanding per se reversal are rare, and in the rare matters that they do exist, they only exist in the vestiges of a constitutional violation. *Weaver v. Massachusetts*, 582 U.S. 286, 290, 295, 137 S. Ct. 1899, 1905, 1907, 198 L. Ed. 2d 420 (2017) (noting that “the purpose of the structural error doctrine is to ensure insistence on certain basic, constitutional guarantees that should define the framework of any criminal trial”); *Neder v. United States*, 527 U.S. 1, 8, 119 S. Ct. 1827, 1833, 144 L. Ed. 2d 35 (1999) (quoting *Rose v. Clark*, 478 U.S. 570, 579, 106 S.Ct. 3101, 92 L.Ed.2d 460 (1986) (“[I]f the defendant had counsel and was tried by an impartial adjudicator, there is a strong presumption that any other [constitutional] errors that may have occurred are subject to harmless-error analysis.”)); *Johnson v. United States*, 520 U.S. 461, 468, 117 S. Ct. 1544, 1549, 137 L. Ed. 2d 718 (1997) (noting “we have found structural errors only in a very limited class of cases” and then itemizing only actual constitutional violations). Our current caselaw exceeds this parameter and insists that a structural and *per se* reversible error exists – not

just when a defendant’s constitutional right to a unanimous verdict is *denied* – but even when a guilty verdict is announced and polled to confirm unanimity, but not polled *further* under *prescribed procedures*. *Wright* established a polling procedure for trial courts to follow, but conceded that the procedure was not a constitutional right. Indeed, the procedure is not even mandatory; it is only required upon request by the defendant. *State v. Wright*, 499 S.C. 365, 103-104, 886 S.E.2d 468, 207-208 (Ct. App. 2020), *aff’d*, 439 S.C. 101, 886 S.E.2d 206 (2023). In both description and effect, the error of the trial court in this case was only procedural in nature and its deviation from *Wright* was only undertaken in light of the extraordinary circumstances surrounding juror safety and the need to prevent further interference. This case demonstrates the need for the trial court to retain a *limited* degree of discretion. Individual and verbal attestation by jurors may remain the preferred and instructed means of polling a jury, but *Wright* requires *modification*.

- a. The grant of jury polling when requested that effectively obtains individual confirmation from each juror but denies the specified method of polling can only be a procedural error that permits harmless error analysis. In light of the facts of this case, the trial court’s error was indeed harmless.**

Structural error, such that the error demands per se reversal without consideration of surrounding facts, does not attach to the utilized method of jury polling.<sup>1</sup> It applies to whether a unanimous guilty verdict *was rendered* – but nothing more. Even after *Wright*, polling is not mandatory unless requested, and there is no Sixth Amendment duty imposed upon counsel to demand polling after a guilty verdict is announced. What is in dispute are procedural mandates that have evolved within South Carolina jurisprudence, and while the right to polling in some form

---

<sup>1</sup> This Court apparently fully adopted the structural error approach in not modifying the prior opinion in *Wright* where the Court of Appeals wrote that jury polling “eludes neat classification” and that “*Weaver* offers a rational way out of our classification dilemma.” *State v. Wright*, 432 S.C. 365, 371, 852 S.E.2d 468, 471 (Ct. App. 2020), *aff’d*, 439 S.C. 101, 886 S.E.2d 206 (2023).

was first guaranteed in *State v. Linder*, 276 S.C. 304, 309, 278 S.E.2d 335, 338 (1981), little more was demanded. The *Linder* Court also gave no indications that further development of the law should result in a posture requiring per se reversible error. A review of *Linder* is first necessary to properly frame the holdings reached in *Wright*.

This Court in *Linder* correctly articulated that it is *the trial judge* that must be satisfied with the unanimity of the verdict. *State v. Linder*, 276 S.C. 304, 309, 278 S.E.2d 335, 338 (1981). This point, which inherently denotes a certain aspect of discretion in meeting that duty, did not receive focus in *Wright*, with the Court instead focusing upon the potentially incurable doubt of *the defendant*. *Linder* also defined polling as “a practice whereby the court determines from the jurors individually whether they assented and still assent to the verdict.” *Id.* While the focus in *Wright* became the meaning of the word “individually,” alongside the acknowledgment that *Linder* does not prescribe any particular polling process, too much has been made of the term. The Court in *Linder* presented this definition in juxtaposition of the efforts of the trial court, which sought no form of communication from the eleven other jurors at all, but instead relied solely upon the foreman to assent on the other jurors’ behalf’s – an effort that bore little to no distinction from the handing down of the verdict and signed sentencing recommendation that had already occurred. This decision was then followed by the trial court’s *refusal* to conduct a polling of the other eleven jurors *directly*. *Id.* at 337.

While in this instance the trial judge was satisfied, the *Linder* Court was within its discretion to establish new state law precedent that more was required in our state’s polling methods. As such, polling was rendered mandatory once requested and a court cannot rely upon the foreman to speak on behalf of the other jurors as a means of polling the jury. But crucially, nowhere in the *Linder* opinion does the Court rest on a constitutional violation, and nowhere does

it suggest that Linder was denied his right to a unanimous verdict. Instead, the Court very clearly established its own procedural rule in order “to dispel any doubt a party might entertain as to the propriety of a jury verdict as rendered.” *Id.* The goal of dispelling doubt was not inappropriate, and this Court did not err by pursuing the same endeavor in *Wright*, but error arose in the rigidity to which review was constrained. *Wright* has now compelled the Court of Appeals to apply this rigidity in error.

In summary, the holding in *Wright* correctly concedes the lack of a constitutional right to polling, it correctly identifies that *Linder* gave no directive as to how South Carolina courts should conduct a jury polling once requested, and though Petitioner doubts the *Linder* Court’s intention to so robustly rely upon the term “individually,” the Court of Appeals and this Court *did not err* by holding that individual polling requires verbal attestation from each juror as the state’s desired methodology; rather, the error arose when that directive was hitched to the per se reversible error framework of structural error, and the potential for harmless error analysis was foreclosed.

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