**RECEIVED**

**Jan 28 2026**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals  
Appeal from Florence County  
Honorable D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

TIRIK JAQUAN JOHNSON-EPPS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2025-001215

---

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

JESSICA M. SAXON  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

question directed at him or her, not a question directed at any group of jurors in which individuals may find some degree of anonymity.”); *Humphries v. District of Columbia*, 174 U.S. 190, 194 (1899) (observing object of poll “is to ascertain for a certainty that each of the jurors approves of the verdict as returned; that no one has been coerced or induced to sign a verdict to which he does not fully assent”); *State v. Tennant*, 319 S.E.2d 395, 399 (W. Va. 1984) (“Courts have recognized that the chief purpose behind an individual poll of jurors is to enable a juror to express any reservation he may have about the verdict free from the pressure of his fellow jurors.”)

Petitioner asserts the collective poll in this case was warranted to ensure the wellbeing, safety, and feelings of the jurors because of the extraordinary circumstances that occurred during trial. However, Petitioner offers no authority for the premise that the feelings or privacy of the jurors would override a criminal defendant’s substantial right to have the jury individually polled. In fact, the United States Supreme Court has recognized that the right of a defendant to a fair trial is “the most fundamental of all freedoms—[which] must be maintained at all costs.” *Estes v. State of Texas*, 381 U.S. 532, 540 (1965). The Court noted that “no right ranks higher than the right of an accused to a fair trial.” *Press–Enterprise Co. v. Superior Court of California*, 464 U.S. 501, 508 (1984). It logically follows that Respondent’s substantial right to poll the jury to confirm unanimity of the verdict and to confirm there was no coercion of any juror, corollary rights to the right to a fair trial, would trump concern for a juror’s wellbeing, safety, and feelings.

The argument that the trial judge refused individual polling to protect the jurors is based purely on an assumption, as the conversation that took place at the bench after polling was requested was not transcribed. While one can guess that the trial court did not poll the jury based on the various odd occurrences throughout the case, it is *not* a known fact. Nevertheless, even *if*

the trial judge had explicitly stated its reasons for declining to poll the jury, that discretion was not allowed based on this Court's holding in *Linder, supra*.

Lastly, the numerous odd occurrences during Respondent's trial weighed in favor of individual polling, not against it. When there are any anomalies in a trial, the sanctity of the verdict becomes questionable. When there are eight occurrences of juror interference, alleged witness tampering or courthouse safety the specter of impropriety looms large and the need to ensure the jury reached a truly unanimous verdict is heightened. *Cf. People v. Hoffman*, 24 N.Y.2d 59, 61 (N.Y. Sup Ct. 1940) (where jury deliberated on election even through election day until shortly before they would need to return a verdict in time to be released and reach their polling places in order to vote, "[t]he right to poll the jury in any case is a substantial one, but it was particularly so under the facts in this case.")

This Court made clear in *Linder* that individual juror polling was mandatory upon a request from either party. A collective poll does not suffice to protect a defendant's right to a unanimous verdict. Petitioner has offered no compelling reason to depart from the precedent. Respondent timely requested the jurors be individually polled, and that request was denied. This was error requiring reversal.

#### **An Error Not Amenable to Harmless Error Analysis**

As the Court of Appeals recognized, "the structural/trial error distinction is not pivotal to Wright's appeal for a polling error is not a pure constitutional error and resembles both an error affecting the framework within which the trial proceeds (structural error) and an error in the trial process itself (trial error)." *Wright* at 371, 852 S.E.2d at 471. A review of all fifty states revealed that the majority of jurisdictions that have addressed the failure to poll the jury following a request poll, like this Court, that the error in failing to poll the jury regarding its

verdict to be reversible *per se*, and they often do so without classifying the error as structural or trial error. *See Wingfield v. State*, 95 Ark. 71, 128 S.W. 562 (1910) (If the statute is mandatory, it follows that the refusal to poll the jury was a prejudicial error, for it deprived the defendant of a substantial right to ascertain to a certainty from the individual expression of each juror whether or not the verdict reported by the foreman was concurred in by all.); *State v. Pare*, 253 Conn. 611, 755 A.2d 180 (2000) (We conclude that, pursuant to § 42-31, a trial court's obligation to poll the jury upon a timely request from either party is mandatory ....in light of the weighty interest protected by a jury poll, and the impracticality of gauging the results of a poll not taken, we conclude that a violation of a party's timely polling request requires automatic reversal of the judgment.); *Sowell v. State*, 458 So. 2d 375 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1984) (Finding the polling language is mandatory and the trial judge should have strictly adhered to the procedure embodied in the rule upon appellant's timely request. Further holding that the failure to afford a defendant the right to a jury poll is not harmless.); *Rinker v. State*, 228 Ga.App. 767, 492 S.E.2d 746 (1997) (“The right to a poll of the jury is a material right derived from the common law.... In criminal cases the right to poll the jury is not discretionary, and [the] denial of that right when timely requested is reversible error.... A request for poll is timely when made after the verdict is read.”); *People v. Wheat*, 383 Ill. App. 3d 234, 242, 889 N.E.2d 1195, 1203 (2008) (The motion was therefore timely, and the trial court abused its discretion by ruling otherwise. As mentioned, if the jury is not polled in spite of a defendant's timely request to do so, reversible error occurs.); *State v. Callahan*, 55 Iowa 364, 7 N.W. 603, 603 (1880) (It is evident the defendants were deprived of the right given by statute to poll the jury. We cannot say such right was not material or the defendants were not prejudiced by being deprived of such statutory right. It seems to us it was a substantial right, of which a defendant in a criminal action cannot be deprived without his

consent. The court erred in receiving and recording the verdict, and in rendering judgment thereon.); *Johnson v. Commonwealth*, 694 S.W.3d 232, 252 (Ky. 2023) (The Defendant has a right not only to see and know that the whole jury is present assenting to the verdict, but by polling to demand face to face of each juror whether the verdict is his verdict, and to object to it unless each member of the jury shall answer for himself that the verdict is his. Thus, the failure to poll the jury when requested and preserved is reversible error.); *Stewart v. People*, 23 Mich. 63 (1871) (He demanded the right to poll the jury, and, when the court denied it, he strenuously insisted and protested against the verdict being recorded without such polling. For the error in denying to the prisoner the right to have the jury polled, the judgment must be reversed and a new trial ordered.); *McLarty v. State*, 842 So. 2d 590, 592 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003) (The right to poll the jury is explicit in Rule 3.10 of the Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Court. Although defendant's counsel was tardy in his request for a jury poll, the jury was still in the courtroom. The trial court's failure to poll the jury is reversible error.); *State v. Reppetto*, 66 Mo. App. 251, 253 (1896) (The court also erred in refusing to grant defendant's request for a poll of the jury upon the rendition of their verdict. This is a right secured to litigants by law to enable them to determine that the verdict rendered was that of each member of the jury.); *State v. Boger*, 202 N.C. 702, 163 S.E. 877 (1932) (We think a defendant on trial in a criminal case (and of course the Solicitor for the State) has the right to have the jury polled, whether it be an oral or a sealed verdict. The defendant was denied his right to have the jurors polled by the judge or under his direction. For error in denial of this right in the instant case, the defendant is entitled to a new trial.); *City of Dayton v. Allen*, 27 O.O.2d 179, 200 N.E.2d 356, 365 (Ohio Com. Pl. 1959) (Holding that the defendant-appellant was deprived of a fundamental right when the court denied his counsel's request that the jury be polled. Such request made individual polling of the jury

mandatory.); *State v. Pockert*, 49 Wash. App. 859, 746 P.2d 839 (1987) (Trial court's failure to poll the jury upon defendant's request was reversible error.); *State v. Wojtalewicz*, 127 Wis. 2d 344, 345–46, 379 N.W.2d 338, 339 (Ct. App. 1985) (Where timely asserted, a defendant in a criminal case has the right to have the jurors polled individually as to their verdict. The trial court's refusal to do so is reversible error.)

These cases repeatedly hold that the right to individually, verbally poll the jury is absolute upon a timely request and that a poll of the jury is more than a mere procedural or technical matter, but a substantial right. The majority of jurisdiction recognize that “[t]he action of the court [in denying a timely request to poll the jury] worked a denial of a right of the accused so fundamental as to require a retrial even though, as clearly appears from the record, the trial was otherwise markedly free from error and the jury's verdict was fully warranted by the evidence.” *Commonwealth v. Martin*, 379 Pa. 587, 109 A.2d 325, 328 (1954).

In *Wright* the Court of Appeals wrote “the structural/trial error dichotomy does not cover all trial mistakes; some, like the polling error here, elude neat classification.” *State v. Wright*, 432 at 371, 852 S.E.2d at 471. It continued that the United States Supreme Court in *Weaver v. Massachusetts*, 582 U.S. 286 (2017), had provided a way out of the classification dilemma by noting three broad categories of errors that are structural. The *Weaver* Court had noted that an error is structural if 1) the right at issues is designed to protect an interest other than the defendant’s interest in being wrongly convicted; 2) the effects of the error are “simply too hard to measure”; or 3) the error always results in fundamental unfairness. *Id.* at 296. Taking each point in turn, the Court of Appeals held that the denial of a timely request to individually poll the jury bore on all three traits. *State v. Wright*, 432 S.C. at 371–72, 852 S.E.2d at 472. First, “the polling right protects not only the defendant from being wrongfully convicted, but also the

public's interest in ensuring the outcome of the criminal trial process is reliable.” *Id.* Second, “[d]enial of the polling right also defies harmless error analysis... as we cannot say the lack of a valid poll contributed to the verdict, as the error occurred after a verdict was announced.” *Id.* The Court of Appeals recognized “[i]t would be an odd end to the matter to deem it harmless, for in effect we would be presuming the unanimity of the verdict while simultaneously denying the defendant the only real right he has to check behind the presumption.” *Id.* Third, “the denial of the polling right caused fundamental unfairness by undermining ... the systemic requirements of a fair and open judicial process.” *Id.*

Petitioner asserts that the *Wright* opinion failed to properly review the three categories and argues, without citing authority, that the conclusions reached in the opinion are wrong. As to category one, Petitioner argues the different right identified by the Court of Appeals was a difference without distinction because “the demand of a unanimous guilty verdict can only be considered a right protecting against an erroneous conviction.” That is simply not true as countless individuals who were convicted in criminal courts by unanimous juries have been later found to be erroneously convicted and set free by programs such as The Innocence Project and The Exoneration Project. The right to poll the jury does not necessarily prevent an erroneous conviction but protects a defendant’s right to a *unanimous* conviction, even if it was erroneous. It “also safeguards the right to a public trial. If the poll reveals the jury's announced verdict is not in fact unanimous, the verdict cannot stand, and the trial court may, as circumstances warrant, direct further deliberation or declare a mistrial.” *Wright* at 369, 852 S.E.2d at 470 *citing State v. Kelly*, 372 S.C. 167, 170-71, 641 S.E.2d 468, 470 (Ct. App. 2007). The right at issue protects against more than just a defendant’s wrongful conviction.

As to category two, Petitioner asserts there are no effects to measure because the verdict was given before any basis for the error arose, thus the verdict itself was proper and could only be bolstered by jury polling. This argument presumes the unanimity of the verdict while simultaneously arguing that the defendant cannot be harmed by being denied the right to be checked behind that presumption. As the Court of Appeals stated in *Wright* the error here is not what was done, but what was *not done*. There is no way for an appellate court to gauge the impact of something that did not occur. Additionally, a verdict does not become final until a sentence is imposed, *See State v. Robinson*, 287 S.C. 173, 337 S.E.2d 204 (1985) (judgment in a criminal case is not final until sentence is imposed), and “if it is made known to the court when it is time to render the verdict that any juror does not assent to it, the verdict cannot be received and the jury should retire to their room until they have agreed.” *State v. Singleton*, 319 S.C. 312, 316, 460 S.E.2d 573, 576 (1995). The verdict was not final until the court imposed a sentence and could have been changed upon any dissent found during polling. However, because no poll was taken, it was impossible to discern any potential dissent, and the effect of the error cannot be measured.

As to category three, Petitioner asserts that Respondent was not denied the right to a unanimous verdict and thus the trial was not rendered fundamentally unfair by the denial of his request to individually poll the jurors. However, again this argument presumes the unanimity of the verdict while simultaneously alleging that the defendant cannot be harmed when his request to check behind that presumption is denied. “For these purposes, however, one point is critical: An error can count as structural even if the error does not lead to fundamental unfairness in every case.” *Weaver v. Massachusetts*, 582 U.S. 286, 296, (2017). Thus, even if there was some credence to Petitioner’s argument that the failure to poll the jury did not lead to fundamental

unfairness in this case, that alone does not remove the error out of the structural class of errors requiring reversal.

The New York Court of Appeals discussion, in a civil case no less, on the inability to apply harmless error analysis to the denial of the right to individually poll the jury is instructive.

The court there wrote,

A verdict in a jury trial is emphatically not a judicial construct. Indeed, it is hard to know upon what empirical basis a verdict untested in open court by direct inquiry of the individual jurors might be judicially deemed to be the final expression of the jury's true intention. Here, it is important to understand that the relevant question is not whether the trial evidence was sufficiently persuasive to impel a hypothetical reasonable juror to vote in favor of the announced verdict, but rather whether each juror chosen by the parties to hear the case would, upon reflection, publicly affirm that the verdict agreed to in the jury room was the one he or she actually intended. The exercise of individual conscience involved is one whose outcome defies prediction.

...

No court, however, may claim to know each juror's conscience so as to retrospectively offer assurance that the verdict was in its initial iteration what its authors had actually intended. Only timely inquiry of jurors will disclose whether their announced verdict truly expresses their will, and it is for this reason, and not out of unreasoned devotion to antique forms, that the common-law insistence upon jury polling has persisted. Harmless error analysis in this context would amount to no more than a speculative exercise, impermissibly substituting the judgments of judges for those that would have been made and disclosed by jurors had their verdict been properly pronounced in open court.